IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
  
Plaintiff-Appellee,  
  
v.  
  
KARI SCHWARTZ,  
  
Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT  
NO. 22-0390

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BUCHANAN COUNTY  
HONORABLE JOHN BAUERCAMP, SENIOR JUDGE

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

MARTHA J. LUCEY  
State Appellate Defender

MELINDA J. NYE  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
mnye@spd.state.ia.us  
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE  
Fourth Floor Lucas Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

## **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**I. Whether the evidence that Schwartz employed “[a] pattern or practice or scheme of conduct to engage in” sexual conduct with A.S. was insufficient?**

### **Authorities**

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189, 198 (Iowa 2022)

Iowa Code § 709.15(3)(a)(1)–(2) (2009)

State v. Wickes, 910 N.W.2d 554, 569 (Iowa 2018)

Scheme, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

**II. Whether the district court erred by instructing the jury that “hugging” constituted “sexual conduct?”**

### **Authorities**

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 785 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Benson, 919 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 709.15 (3) (2009)

State v. Wickes, 910 N.W.2d 554, 567 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Code § 709.15 (2009)

Iowa Code § 709.15 (2015)

State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907, 908 (Iowa 2011)



**III. Whether the district court erred by refusing to allow Schwartz to introduce evidence that the school’s investigation into Schwartz’s misconduct resulted in an “unfounded” finding?**

**Authorities**

State v. Alberts, 722 N.W.2d 402, 407 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Thoren, 970 N.W.2d 611, 620 (Iowa 2022)

Stender v. Blessum, 897 N.W.2d 491, 501 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.401

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403

1. *The evidence was relevant.*

State v. Thoren, 970 N.W.2d 611, 622 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180, 238 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537 (Iowa 2013)

2. *The probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, or misleading the jury.*

State v. Thoren, 970 N.W.2d 611, 623-24 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537-38 (Iowa 2013)

United States v. MacDonald, 688 F.2d 224, 230 (4th Cir. 1982)

United States v. Vasquez, 540 Fed.Appx. 623, 626-27 (9th Cir. 2013)

State v. Mitchell, 633 N.W.2d 295, 301 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Liggins, 978 N.W.2d 406, 422 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 240 (Iowa 2001)

1 Kenneth S. Broun, et al., McCormick on Evidence § 185 (Robert P. Mosteller ed., 8th ed. 2022)

State v. Richards, 879 N.W.2d 140, 152-53 (Iowa 2016)

3. *The record does not affirmatively establish Schwartz was not prejudiced by the exclusion of the evidence*

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 30 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470, 479 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32, 41-42 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 210 (Iowa 2008)

**IV. Whether the application of Iowa Code section 907.3's exclusion of deferred or suspended sentencing options without a jury finding that Schwartz was a mandatory reporter and A.S. was under eighteen years of age violates Schwartz's rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?**

**Authorities**

State v. Davison, 973 N.W.2d 276, 280 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Code § 907.3(1-3) (2021)

Iowa Code § 907.3 (2021)

U.S. Const. Amend VI

Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99, 104 (2013)

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000)

Harris v. United States, 436 U.S. 545 (2002)

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 304 (2004)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Two issues in this case warrant review by the Iowa Supreme Court because they are substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c).

First, this case asks the court to consider the application of the court's decisions in State v. Thoren, 970 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2022) and State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531 (Iowa 2013), concluding evidence of an unfavorable administrative investigation was inadmissible against a defendant, in the inverse situation. Do these cases prohibit the admission of favorable results of an administrative investigation when offered by the defendant?

As well, this case asks the court to determine whether a sentencing court may consider less punitive sentencing options available in Iowa Code § 907.3 for a defendant convicted of a violation of chapter 709. Section 907.3 excludes consideration of the lesser sentencing options, such as deferred judgments

and suspended sentences, for those convicted of an offense in chapter 709 by a person who is a mandatory reporter and when the victim is under age eighteen. In this case, Schwartz was convicted a violation of chapter 709 but there were no jury findings that she was a mandatory reporter or that the victim was under age eighteen. Schwartz argues her Sixth Amendment rights are implicated, as held in Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99 (2013) and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case.** Kari Schwartz appeals from her conviction, judgment and sentence for sexual exploitation by a school employee, a class D felony in violation of Iowa Code § 709.15(3)(a) (2009).

**Course of Proceedings.** The State charged Kari Schwartz with sexual exploitation by a school employee, by pattern, practice or scheme, a class D felony in violation of Iowa

Code § 709.15(3) & (5)(a) (2009). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5).

The State moved in limine to exclude any evidence that the investigation by the Independence High School into the allegations against Schwartz in 2009 resulted in a finding of “unfounded.” (State’s Motion in Limine, ¶ 7) (App. pp. 12). Schwartz resisted, and the district court initially ruled that no mention of the prior investigation would be allowed. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, p. 8 L. 18 – p. 12 L. 22). Upon further discussion, the court concluded evidence that an investigation was conducted in 2009 would be admitted, but no evidence regarding the results of the investigation would be allowed. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, p. 12 L. 25 – p. 14 L. 20).

After a jury trial, Schwartz was found guilty as charged. (Verdict Form) (App. p. 15). Schwartz moved for a new trial, arguing the court improperly instructed the jury on the definition of “sexual conduct” and improperly excluded evidence of the results of the school’s investigation into Schwartz’s

interactions with A.S. (Motion for New Trial, p. 1-2) (App. pp. 16-17). The court denied the motions. (Sentencing Tr. p. 7 L. 4-14) (Judgment & Sentence) (App. pp. 29-31).

Schwartz also argued it was improper to apply Iowa Code § 907.3 (2021), prohibiting the court from considering deferred or suspended sentencing options when sentencing Schwartz as a violation of the Sixth Amendment principles under Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99 (2013), and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). (Motion for New Trial, p. 3-4) (App. 18-19). The court also denied this motion, and proceeded to sentence Schwartz to an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed five years, finding it was precluded from considering less punitive sentencing options by Iowa Code § 907.3. (Sentencing Tr. p. 8 L. 4-6) (Judgment & Sentence) (App. pp. 29-31). The court imposed and suspended the minimum fine. (Judgment & Sentence) (App. pp. 29-31). Schwartz filed a timely notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 32-33).

**Facts.** In the fall of 2009, A.S. was a senior at Independence High School, and Kari Schwartz was her art teacher. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 31:7 – 35:20). The art room at the Independence High School was the only classroom on the second floor of the school building. The second floor also included a darkroom, a storage room, a back hallway, and an office. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 117:17-25; 122:17 – 123:9) (Def. Ex. D) (Conf. App. pp. 23). The south stairwell was well-lit and the bottom of the stairs opened into a hallway facing the high school office and near the gym. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 122:7-16). The south stairwell was more commonly used than the north stairwell, which was smaller and darker and didn't open into a hallway on the ground floor, but instead led to the basement. The door from the hallway on the ground floor into the south stairwell was regularly kept open, as was the door to the school office. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 123:10 – 124:24) (Def. Exs. E, F) (Conf. App. pp. 24-25). The south stairwell was not a place where one would expect privacy—it was frequently



used by students and noise traveled up and down the stairwell, as well. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 128:15-25).

That fall, A.S.'s mother was undergoing chemotherapy for cancer, causing anxiety for A.S. and stress in her family. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 42:13-22). Initially, A.S. thought Schwartz was "great" and considered her a mentor. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 37:2-10). A.S. noticed that Schwartz spent a lot of time talking to her and her tablemates during class and shared personal stories with them. A.S. also thought Schwartz hugged her a lot and gave her unusually long hugs. She testified Schwartz talked about wanting to do things with her outside of school, such as rollerblading. Schwartz complimented her, telling her she was beautiful and strong. It stood out to her because other teachers did not give her that sort of attention. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 38:7 – 40:17; 43:1 – 47:24).

At the end of September, A.S. invited the students in her art class to come to her family's pumpkin farm and pick

pumpkins. She recalled that Schwartz overheard and invited herself. While they worked, Schwartz sent a text message to A.S. that said, “love ya.” After they were done working, someone took a picture of A.S. and Schwartz, hugging and smiling for the camera. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 47:25 – 51:11; 58:1-12; 60:9 – 61:13) (State’s Ex. 3) (Conf. App. p. 11). Later that night, A.S. received more text messages from Schwartz telling her that A.S. meant the world to her. The next day, Monday, A.S. got a long email from Schwartz that included a statement, “So I am probably not suppose[d] to love my students, but I do you.” (11/4/22 Trial Tr. Day 2, 51:11 – 52:12; 67:15-68:1) (State’s Exs. 5, 6) (Conf. App. pp. 12-13). A.S. felt uncomfortable about the messages and showed them to another teacher the next day. That teacher reported it to the principal. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 52:13 – 53:25; 180:17 – 182:7; 11/5/21 Trial Tr. Day 3, 10:13 – 12:2).

A.S. recalled that she was withdrawn and quiet that day during art class. She testified that Schwartz noticed and tried

to get her to tell her why at the end of the class. When A.S. told Schwartz that she didn't want to talk about it, Schwartz took her by the arm and led her to the top of the south stairwell outside the classroom. A.S. sat down on the stairs and Schwartz sat behind her, straddling her and hugging her. A.S. began crying, with her face against Schwartz's arm, and Schwartz whispered in her ear, "It's going to be okay, it's going to be okay." A.S. recalled that while Schwartz whispered, she rubbed A.S.'s body with her right hand, feeling her chest and hips and reaching under her pants down toward her pubic area. Two students entered the stairwell, interrupting the encounter. Schwartz stood up, and A.S. hurried down the stairs as the other students passed her. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 71:16 – 74:1; 78:9 -81:5).

Within a few days, the school opened an investigation. While A.S. provided copies of the emails and described the text messages, she never told anyone about the encounter in the stairwell. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 86:8 – 87:4; 103:12 –

105:7; 184:15 - 188:12; 189:7-9). A.S. stopped attending Schwartz's art class, and a short time later, Schwartz left the school. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 88:17-25; 188:20-25).

Almost ten years later, in 2018, A.S. found out Schwartz was teaching in another school. She wrote a letter to the administration and told them about her history with Schwartz. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 114:12 - 116:22) (Def. Ex. A) (Conf. App. p. 20). In 2020, she contacted the police and reported the incident in the stairwell. She explained that she reported it because she knew Schwartz was still teaching and because she thought the statute of limitations on any criminal prosecution would expire upon her 28th birthday. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 90:17-91:20; 105:8-11).

A.S. acknowledged that when she first reported the incident to the police, she was confused about the timing of the events and some of the details. She was still confused at the time of her deposition, but she explained that she was confident of the details and the timeline at the time of her trial testimony

because she had since had a chance to “get a good grasp of her memory.” (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 105:8 – 108:1; 108:11-109:11). She also explained that she has been journaling and writing poetry about the incident throughout the years since high school. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 142:11 – 145:2; 148:12 – 151:24; 156:1-8) (State’s Ex. 11) (Conf. App. p. 17).

Amy Balli was a student at Independence High School with A.S. She was not friends with A.S. and was upset when Schwartz left school. She knew A.S. was involved somehow, so she stole A.S.’s cell phone. Her plan was to wipe it and keep it for herself. When she looked through the text messages on the phone she saw messages between A.S. and Schwartz that “shocked” her because she found them inappropriate. At the time of trial, however, she could not recall the substance of the messages. When she found out A.S. had reported the stolen phone to the police, she returned it to her. (11/4/21 Trial Tr. Day 2, 159:17 – 165:17; 168:14 – 169:14).

Kari Schwartz testified she was an art teacher at Independence High School in the fall of 2009. She had been hired in 2005. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 134:12 - 134-135). A.S. was in her second period drawing class. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 142:12 - 143:12). She first encountered A.S. outside of the classroom at the homecoming parade when A.S. approached her and commented on the fact that she was rollerblading. She was photographed later that day sitting across the laps of A.S. and another student because the photographer suggested it. (State's Ex. 2) (Conf. App. p. 10). (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 143:16 - 144:7; 147:9 - 148:16).

At parent-teacher conferences the next week, A.S. came in with her mother and they told Schwartz about their family's pumpkin patch and how they needed a lot of help picking the pumpkins. The next day A.S. brought it up during art class and invited the entire class to help. She specifically included Schwartz in the invitation. A.S. asked for Schwartz's cell

phone number so she could text her directions. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 148:17 – 151:19).

Schwartz helped with pumpkin-picking on Sunday, along with about thirty other people. It was labor-intensive work and she didn't interact with A.S. until the end of the day as she was ready to leave. She sent A.S. a text message that read, "Leaving. Love ya." Schwartz recalled that A.S.'s mother asked to take a photo of them because they were so muddy. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 152:14 – 158:23) (State's Exs. 1, 3) (Conf. App. pp. 9, 11).

The next day at school, Schwartz noticed A.S. was crying and when Schwartz tried to talk to her about it during class, A.S. indicated she would talk to her later. At the end of class, A.S. was waiting at Schwartz's desk. Because there were students working in the classroom and using the air compressor, they went into the stairway to talk. They stepped into the south stairwell, and A.S. sat on the stairs and Schwartz sat next to her. A.S. told Schwartz things that were troubling

her and cried. Towards the end of the conversation, A.S. was crying hard and Schwartz put her arm around her shoulder and told her it was going to be okay. Shortly after, the bell rang and kids started coming up the stairs. Because she felt the conversation was being cut short, Schwartz asked for A.S.'s email address, and Schwartz promised to write to her later that day. She sent A.S. the email submitted as State's Ex. 6. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 158:24 – 165:11) (State's Ex. 6) (Conf. App. p. 13). Schwartz never grabbed A.S., never groped her and never put her hand down her pants. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 229:13-18).

They exchanged text messages and emails later that night. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 168:12 – 171:24). (State's Ex. 5, 7, 10) (Conf. App. pp. 12, 14, 16). The next day, Tuesday, A.S. was quiet and wore headphones during class. Schwartz was concerned and emailed her. Schwartz never got a response and A.S. continued to be withdrawn during class the rest of the week. Schwartz eventually reached out to another teacher that



A.S. was close to, but had no further communication with A.S. herself. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4 173:16 – 175:25) (State’s Ex. 10) (Conf. App. p. 16).

Schwartz testified that the emails she sent were not meant to be sexual or romantic in nature. Rather she only wanted to build A.S. up and help her with whatever was bothering her. Schwartz never intended to have any sort of relationship with A.S. other than a student-teacher relationship. She realized later that some of the language she used in the emails sounds bad out of context, but at the time she believed she was doing what A.S. needed. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 165:11 – 168:11; 171:20 – 173:15).

Michele Staker, a Uniserv director with the Iowa State Education Association, testified that as part of her role she conducts trainings and ethics presentations for teacher groups. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 14:19 – 17:6). She testified that a common issue she sees with newer teachers is that they struggle to figure out exactly how to relate to students and set

appropriate boundaries. It is especially difficult when the new teachers are younger and the students are older—the relatively small age difference makes it harder to draw the line between an appropriate student/teacher relationship rather than a friendship. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 17:10 – 21:14).

Dr. Kimberly MacLin testified as an expert on perception and memory for the defense. As a Ph.D. in psychology, her primary occupation was teaching psychology at the University of Northern Iowa, but she had also worked with various police departments to ensure they use best practices to collect eyewitness memory evidence and for eyewitness identifications. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 40:13 - 49:10). Dr. MacLin explained that memory works differently than most people think it does. Memory is not perfect and is not like a file on a computer that a person replays when they remember an event. Memory is distributed across the various locations of the brain. “And so when we use memory, we’re pulling information together, we’re not replaying an event from the past.” She noted that memory

is extremely malleable and by its nature prone to error. Many things can contaminate memory, including the vocabulary used to ask a question about an event, how remote in time the event is, how often the person talks about the event, conversations with others, media exposure, and hearing about similar events. She noted that memory is extremely prone to error because it's impossible to pay attention to all aspects of an event when it occurs, so our brain has to fill in the gaps in memory. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 50:16 – 71:17). She noted that in the case of sex abuse cases, partial disclosures and the recollection of additional details over time are problematic because the opportunities for contamination are greater the longer the someone waits to disclose. There is no way to know if the additional details, recalled later, are real or if they are the result of contamination. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 88:15 – 89:8).

Grace Dorman was a student in Schwartz's art class in the fall of 2009. She sat at A.S.'s table and recalled Schwartz talking to them, but didn't think Schwartz spent an excessive

amount of time hanging around their table—no more time than she spent at all the tables. She also denied that Schwartz engaged in inappropriate conversation with them. (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 102:1 – 105:14).

A.S.’s mother denied inviting Schwartz over to pick pumpkins. However, she agreed that a lot of people come to pick pumpkins, so although they were “alarmed” by Schwartz’s appearance, “it was okay.” (11/8/21 Trial Tr. Day 4, 240:12 – 243:11).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The evidence that Schwartz employed “[a] pattern or practice or scheme of conduct to engage in” sexual conduct with A.S. was insufficient.**

**A. Error Preservation.** Because Schwartz proceeded to trial and has been convicted, she may challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting her conviction on direct appeal whether or not she made a sufficient motion for judgment of acquittal. State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189, 198 (Iowa 2022). Nevertheless, Schwartz moved for a judgment of

acquittal, the State resisted, and the district court denied her motion. (11/5/21 Trial Tr. Day 3, 61:3 – 64:19).

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