IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 22–0390

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KARI SCHWARTZ,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR BUCHANAN COUNTY  
THE HON. JOHN BAUERCAMPER, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE’S BRIEF**

---

BRENNA BIRD  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

SHAWN M. HARDEN  
Buchanan County Attorney

ISRAEL KODIAGA  
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

with the victim “linked his sexual desire toward [the victim] with the hugs they exchanged,” and supported the conclusion “that [she] had become the object of [his] fantasies and sexual desires, and the hugs that coincided with these messages were for his sexual gratification”). And the jury found that was proven, beyond a reasonable doubt. *See* Jury Instr. 14(3); App. 13. This jury found that Schwartz engaged in a pattern, practice, or scheme to engage in conduct with A.S. with the specific intent to arouse or gratify sexual desires. There is no way that submitting a modified definition of “sexual conduct” would have changed the verdict on this trial record, given that finding.

**III. The trial court did not err in excluding evidence about the outcome of any school or agency investigations.**

**Preservation of Error**

Error is not preserved. Schwartz is correct that the parties argued about the admissibility of this class of evidence, and the court granted the State’s motion in limine to exclude evidence of the results of the school’s investigation. *See* TrialTr.V2 7:22–14:20. But Schwartz never made any offer of proof, and the existing record does not enable a reviewing court to identify the actual substance of the evidence that she claims was erroneously excluded. *See State v. Lacey*, 968 N.W.2d 792, 806 (Iowa 2021) (“Without an offer of proof, we can do no more

than speculate about the substance of Lacey’s proposed testimony. Accordingly, we hold that Lacey failed to preserve error on the matter.”); *State v. Leedom*, 938 N.W.2d 177, 191–92 (Iowa 2020) (finding error was not preserved on challenges to evidentiary rulings without offer of proof); *State v. Windsor*, 316 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Iowa 1982) (citing *In re Estate of Herm*, 284 N.W.2d 191, 197 (Iowa 1979)) (“[P]rejudice will not be presumed or found when the answer to the question was not obvious and the proponent made no offer of proof.”).

Schwartz cites *Alberts* on error preservation. See Def’s Br. at 41–42 (citing *State v. Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d 402, 407 (Iowa 2006)). But in *Alberts*, the proponent had filed “offers of proof in the form of deposition testimony.” See *Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d at 406–07. The court relied on those transcripts on appeal, in assessing the admissibility of the proffered evidence and the existence of prejudicial error. See *id.* at 408–12. Here, Schwartz made no such offer of proof. Schwartz’s brief does not cite to any part of the record that establishes the substance of the testimony that she would have presented, if not for this ruling. Her theories of relevance are hypothetical, and they require this Court to “speculate about the substance” of her never-offered evidence. See *Lacey*, 968 N.W.2d at 806. As such, error is not preserved.

## **Standard of Review**

A ruling that excluded proffered evidence as irrelevant or as unfairly prejudicial would be reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See id.* at 807 (citing *State v. Thompson*, 954 N.W.2d 402, 406 (Iowa 2021)).

## **Merits**

Begin with a clarifying question: what does the record say about the actual evidence that was excluded? The closest that the State can find is defense counsel’s statement that Sornson (the school principal) “stated in [her] deposition she believed it should have been founded, however, the licensing board determined no sanctions were necessary.” *See* TrialTr.V2 8:18–9:18. Note that the minutes of testimony include Sornson’s report that establishes that *she* deemed the complaint was “founded.” *See* Minutes (8/11/20) at 49–50; C-App. 7–8; *accord id.* at 15; C-App. 6 (noting that Sornson recalled that “she deemed the report of inappropriate contact . . . to be ‘founded.’”). But there is no report from the superintendent or any state agency in the record.

Schwartz argues that evidence of the outcome of some other investigation would be relevant because it would have “refuted “[t]he obvious inference the jury would make” from other evidence “that the school concluded Schwartz acted improperly and [she] was forced to

leave her job.” *See* Def’s Br. at 45; *accord* Def’s Br. at 48–49. But the court never prohibited Schwartz from offering evidence about when, how, or why she left her teaching position at Independence. From the minutes of testimony, it appears that Schwartz had previously stated that “she agreed to leave and was offered severance,” *before* Sornson referred the matter to the state licensing board for their investigation. *See* Minutes of Testimony (8/11/20) at 12; C-App. 5; *accord id.* at 15; C-App. 6 (Sornson indicating that “the school came up with an agreement for [Schwartz] to leave”); *id.* at 50; C-App. 8 (marking that Schwartz “has admitted the violation, has resigned, or has agreed to relinquish any teaching license held,” which meant that Sornson’s Level I investigation was “[c]losed and referred to school officials for further investigation as a personnel matter”). There is no reason why Schwartz could not have testified (or elicited testimony from Sornson) that she resigned during the investigation and received severance, by agreement between her and the school district. And the State offered testimony from Sornson (without an objection) that Schwartz had left employment at the school *at the beginning* of Sornson’s investigation. *See* TrialTr.V2 188:13–25. And there was also evidence that Schwartz was teaching at another Iowa school by 2018, when A.S. reached out

to that school to tell them what Schwartz did. *See* Def’s Ex. A; C-App. 20; TrialTr.V2 114:12–116:22. So there was no room for an inference that any investigation had caused Schwartz to lose her license to teach. Schwartz’s argument in her brief on appeal does not establish error in this ruling—to the contrary, the outcome of a subsequent investigation could not help to explain Schwartz’s departure from that teaching job, which occurred *before* any investigation had reached any conclusion.

Of course, that was not the relevance argument that Schwartz made below. Schwartz argued that “it’s relevant to talk about . . . what was investigated at the time of the alleged incident in 2009” and that A.S. made “prior inconsistent statements . . . in that proceeding.” *See* TrialTr.V2 9:15–11:4. Again, Schwartz never made an offer of proof on what those statements might have been. She was likely referring to the fact that A.S. never told the school that Schwartz had reached into her pants and touched her underneath her clothes. But that evidence *did* come in, via testimony from A.S.—and again, without any need for any testimony about the outcome of any school/agency investigation. *See* TrialTr.V2 86:17–88:16; TrialTr.V2 103:12–104:22. And she could elicit testimony from Sornson, confirming that A.S. never reported any incidents of inappropriate physical touching in 2009. *See* TrialTr.V2

189:7–9. Schwartz was able to admit evidence of statements that were made during the investigation in 2009—and she did not need to offer evidence of the outcome of those investigations, to do so.

Neither version of Schwartz’s advocacy has offered a theory of relevance for evidence of the outcome/findings of any investigation—she has only explained the relevance of *other* evidence that the court had not excluded (and most of which was actually presented at trial). Her true reason for seeking to admit *this* evidence—that investigation into complaints of about Schwartz’s conduct had ended with a finding that they were “unfounded”—was that she wanted jurors to hear that another fact-finder had already determined that Schwartz did not do what A.S. was describing in her testimony, so jurors would consider that in determining whether they believed A.S. or Schwartz. But this is not a tenable theory of relevance, for two reasons. First, A.S. never told school officials that Schwarz had touched her, under her clothes. *See* TrialTr.V2 86:17–88:16; TrialTr.V2 103:12–104:22; *cf.* TrialTr.V2 189:7–9. Logically, officials could not have investigated that incident—and the findings of any investigation *without* that critical information would be undermined by that incompleteness. Second, parties cannot present evidence of another fact-finder’s actions or conclusions after

taking reports from testifying witnesses, to encourage jurors to adopt those express or implied credibility findings as their own. *See State v. Huston*, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537–38 (Iowa 2013) (“We see no probative value to the DHS determination the abuse report against Huston was founded. Whether or not the abuse report was deemed founded is irrelevant to any issue for the jury to decide.”). The State was not able to elicit testimony from Sornson that she *did* conclude that complaints about Schwartz’s conduct were founded (even without the worst facts), because of *Huston*—Sornson’s conclusion was not relevant to any issue that the jury had to decide. The same applies to any investigation from another school official/agency that reached a contrary conclusion.

At trial, Schwartz argued that the Iowa Court of Appeals opinion in *State v. Thoren* changed the analysis—but she did not explain how or why. *See* TrialTr.V2 10:1–17. On appeal, Schwartz argues that the Iowa Supreme Court opinion on further review in *Thoren* “reached a different conclusion” from *Huston*, on the admissibility of evidence of the outcome of a licensing board investigation. *See* Def’s Br. at 44–45. That is false. *Thoren* reached the same conclusion: that evidence of the massage license board’s investigation was not relevant for any permissible purpose. *Thoren* did not overrule or qualify *Huston*—to



the contrary, *Thoren* reinforced *Huston*. It reiterated: “Evidence about the Board’s investigation cannot be used when its sole relevance is to enhance the credibility of the victim.” *See State v. Thoren*, 970 N.W.2d 611, 622 (Iowa 2022) (citing *State v. Mitchell*, 633 N.W.2d 295, 299–300 (Iowa 2001)). Of course, *Thoren* recognized that relevant evidence may be uncovered by a licensing board, during its investigation. Such evidence may be admissible, subject to the ordinary rules of evidence. *See Thoren*, 970 N.W.2d at 622 (explaining that a concern about the agency’s investigative process or standard of proof “does not in itself make evidence from the investigation irrelevant”). But that does not change the fact that the proponent still has the burden of establishing that any proffered evidence from/about such an investigation must be “somehow relevant to the criminal charges.” *See id.* at 622–23. And it was not relevant—it would only create “a substantial risk that the jury will substitute the agency’s judgment for its own.” *See id.* at 623–24.

And here is what *Thoren* had to say about *Huston*:

In making this determination, we take guidance from our prior decision in *State v. Huston*, 825 N.W.2d 531. There we held it was reversible error in a child endangerment prosecution to allow evidence that the department of human services had investigated and issued a founded report of child abuse against the defendant. *Id.* at 539–40. We reasoned there was a real danger that the jury would be unfairly influenced by this finding. *Id.* at

537–38. Similar concerns exist here. The women who complained to the Board appeared at trial and testified. Thus, . . . there was no need to introduce evidence about the Board’s investigation. The jury could evaluate those incidents based on the testimony of the women involved.

*Id.* at 624. It did not qualify or modify *Huston*, and it cannot be said to have “reached a different conclusion.” *See* Def’s Br. at 44–45. And the same principle applies here: the jury could assess the evidence as presented through testimony from A.S. and other witnesses, without any need for evidence of what someone else thought of the evidence.

As a final word on *Thoren*, note that the Iowa Supreme Court rejected one of the State’s purported theories of relevance by finding “the State could have proved” that purportedly relevant fact “without introducing evidence of the Board’s investigation and settlement.” *See Thoren*, 970 N.W.2d at 623. As previously described, both versions of Schwartz’s advocacy suffer from that same problem. Schwartz did not need to offer evidence of the findings/outcome of any investigation to prove what she was purportedly attempting to prove: that A.S. made inconsistent statements about what Schwartz did, or that she left her teaching position (with severance) as the result of an agreement with the school that was reached before the conclusion of any investigation. So *Thoren* forecloses those indirect attacks on this ruling, too.

If Schwartz could establish error in this ruling, her claim would still fail because any error would be harmless and non-prejudicial. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a); *accord State v. Parker*, 747 N.W.2d 196, 209 (Iowa 2008). A.S. testified about her reasons for declining to report the incident of sexual touching in the stairwell. *See* TrialTr.V2 86:17–88:16; TrialTr.V2 103:12–104:22. That fact was already known to the jury, and it did not change the verdict. Jurors would understand that the outcome of any investigation that preceded that key disclosure had no relevance. Schwartz gives the game away in this section of her brief: she argues error in this ruling was prejudicial because the case “came down to a credibility determination between A.S. and Schwartz.” *See* Def’s Br. at 52–53. That is, Schwartz is arguing that she was prejudiced because the jury was not able to consider the investigation’s findings in making that credibility determination. This is precisely what *Thoren* and *Huston* prohibit: offering another fact-finder’s determination as to whether allegations were “founded,” and suggesting that jurors should consider that official finding in deciding what testimony *they* believe.

Schwartz cannot identify any real prejudice for the same reason that she cannot identify error: because that evidence was not relevant or admissible for any permissible purpose. As such, her challenge fails.

**IV. Schwartz’s sentence does not violate *Alleyne*. Also, she repeatedly told the jury that every licensed teacher is a mandatory reporter, and nobody disputed A.S.’s age, so any *Alleyne* error would be harmless.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Error is not preserved. Schwartz raised this claim at sentencing. But this is really a challenge to the jury instructions. In *State v. Heard*, a defendant argued that his sentence violated *Alleyne* because the jury was never asked to find that he was *not* a juvenile offender, which was a fact that made certain sentencing options unavailable.

We assume without deciding that when a defendant’s age is genuinely in dispute, a jury finding that he or she is eighteen or older should be required before imposing a life-without-parole sentence. But the defendant must raise the issue of his age and claim to be a minor before the issue must be submitted to the jury. *Heard* failed to do so. Understandably so because he had already acknowledged in his own court filing that he was an adult at the time of Hutchinson’s murder.

*Heard* contends his life-without-parole sentence is illegal without a jury finding on his age. We disagree. In our view, a defendant, at most, can claim a procedural error if an issue as to his age was not submitted to the jury. . . .

*Heard*’s claim challenges the procedural jury instruction requirements under *Alleyne*, not the constitutionality of the sentence. As such, *Heard*’s claim is not an attack on an illegal sentence. Because *Heard* did not raise this challenge during trial, the age issue is not preserved on appeal. *See State v. Taggart*, 430 N.W.2d 423, 425 (Iowa 1988) (“[T]imely objection to jury instructions in criminal prosecutions is necessary in order to preserve any error thereon for appellate review.”). We affirm *Heard*’s life-without-parole sentence.

*State v. Heard*, 934 N.W.2d 433, 445–46 (Iowa 2019). Similarly, here, Schwartz did not challenge the omission of any special interrogatory that would have asked the jury to make a finding on whether she was a mandatory reporter, or whether A.S. was younger than 18 years old. *See* TrialTr.V5 8:16–11:18. Because Schwartz did not raise this challenge *during* trial, error is not preserved.

### **Standard of Review**

A ruling on an *Alleyne* challenge would be reviewed *de novo*. *See Heard*, 934 N.W.2d at 439; *State v. Pettinger*, No. 19–1309, 2021 WL 210757, at \*5–6 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 21, 2021).

### **Merits**

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